Low protein diets are mainstay for management of chronic kidney disease

Natale Gaspare De Santo¹, Alessandra Perna¹, Massimo Cirillo¹

¹Second University of Naples, Naples, 5 Via Pansini, Pad.17, Nephrology, 80131 Naples, Italy

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. *Timeline of the history of renal nutrition*
- 3. The advent of the Giordano-Giovannetti diet
- 4. The advent of ketoanalogues
- 5. The effects of low protein diets Lessons from meta-analyses
- 6. Data from selected studies
- 7. The benefits of low protein diets in CKD
- 8. Deferring renal replacement therapy
- 9. Conclusion
- 10. References

1. ABSTRACT

Low protein diets, made either of natural foods or of L-essential amino acids and/or their nitrogen-free ketoanalogues, are feasible, safe, and efficient means to reduce disease progression in patients with chronic kidney disease and do not prejudice patient outcomes once they get into Renal Replacement Therapy. They ameliorate symptomatology, grant a positive nitrogen balance, reduce proteinuria, improve osteodystrophy and lipid profile, reduce serum concentrations of uric acid, phosphate, and maintain plasma bicarbonate within normal limits thus preventing metabolic acidosis. They also reduce the number of hypotensive drugs and the quantity of erythropoietin to be administered to achieve target hemoglobin concentrations, and do not deteriorate quality of life. On the contrary, they retard progression of chronic kidney disease. There is a need to motivate patients to increase adherence to prescription and dietitians to escape the risks of malnutrition.

2. TIMELINE OF THE HISTORY OF RENAL NUTRITION

The history of nutrition in renal disease usually starts with a reference to L.S. Beale (1869) who suggested a that a reduction of protein intake might be beneficial in reducing the kidney work load in renal disease (1). However low protein nutrition was administered to patients with Bright disease by Mariano Semmola (2), a medical student who studied the effect of a low protein diet and published them in the proceedings of the Academy of Naples in 1850. The data were also discussed and published in the proceedings at the Academy of Medicine in Paris at the time Semmola worked under Claude Bernard, Trousseau and Rayer. He demonstrated that a vegetable diet or a regimen without protein reduced urinary albumin excretion. In the subsequent 42 years he wrote 25 additional full papers in Italian and international journals on the topic of primary albuminuria which were appreciated by the expert of his time including Jean-Matrie

Charcot, Frédérich Labadie-Largrave, Sigismund Jaccoud, Henri Hallopeau, E. Lechorché, Ch. Talamon, and Georges Dielafoy and were confirmed in many subsequent experiments of Gubler, Parkes and Lépine, that is the cream of the clinical investigators of those days (2). Semmola made experiments in humans using protein poor and protein rich diets. He used a soup of greens and bread and compared with the effects of 600 grams of boiled meat. He also studied the effects of a diet containing 200 g of fat, 1500 g of bread and 1 kg of chestnuts (2).

The next significant step was made by Franz Volhard (3) who in 1918 observed a reduction in body urea nitrogen, improvement of symptoms and prolonged survival following the administration of a vegetarian low protein diet and a normal energy intake (2000 kcal/d). Thirty years later, in 1948, Kempner (4) strongly supported a low protein diet to reduce progression of renal failure and toxicity by suggesting the use of a 20 g protein diet with low sodium content (150 mg/d), an adequate caloric intake (2,000 kcal/d). However the diet carried the risk of reducing body weight. Then Borst introduced a protein free diet, poor in sodium but providing adequate energy. The diet was effective in reducing symptoms of patients with chronic kidney disease (5). Bull et al. administered 10 g of proteins/d and allowed the usual caloric intake (6). Addis in turn supported a protective effect of low protein diets in the diseased kidney because of the reduced workload that had emerged in studies in rats (7). Smith (8) was skeptic on the real benefit of a low protein diet and Peters and van Slyke disclosed (9) its potential for malnutrition.

In the years 1949-1954 Theodore N. Pullman performed seminal work on the effects of dietary protein intake on GFR, renal plasma flow, and maximum tubular secretory capacity for PAH. In particular it was observed that a high protein intake increased GFR, ERPF TmPAH in comparison with average protein intake and low protein intake (10, 11). Pullman was also kind enough to historically review those data for the 1995 September issue of Seminars in Nephrology which one of us (N.G. De Santo) dedicated to Renal Reserve (12). In that paper Pullman also reviewed data available from 1932 to 1950 that included nephrotic children, patients with renal disease, hypertensive, and various cases of nephritis (12).

Finally, John P. Merrill, professor of medicine at the Harvard Medical School and physician in chief at the Peter Bent Brigham Hospital in Boston (13) in 1955 suggested a diet containing 0.5-0.6 g/Kg of high biological value proteins along with adequate energy.

3. THE ADVENT OF THE GIORDANO-GIOVANNETTI DIET

All started with one experiment on a single healthy subject (Carmelo Giordano). The experiment was published in 1961 (14). The healthy subject in the course of 53 days utilized various diets: i) essential amino acids + 3 g of N as glycine; ii) essential amino acids + 0.5 g N as glycine, and iii) essential amino acids + 2 g of N as

ammonium citrate and D essential amino acids + 2 g N as urea. Urea and ammonium were utilized to maintain nitrogen balance. In the same year (15) Giordano studied 2 patients with advanced renal failure given a diet with essential amino acids equivalent to 2 g of N, associated with an energy input of 2,500 Kcal/d. Blood urea was reduced. A third Giordano's paper was published in 1963 (16) and summed up data in one healthy subject, and 8 patients with a eGFR in the range 3-26 ml/min, 7 of them were hypertensive. They underwent for 7 weeks a diet providing L-essential amino acids (2 g of N) associated with 2300 calories in women and 3,100 cal in men. Subsequently they were switched to a low protein diet providing 23 g of proteins of high biological value. Blood urea was reduced under amino acids, nitrogen balance started to be positive after 3 weeks. In the same year at the Second International Congress of Nephrology that took place in summer in Prague, Giordano had an oral presentation (17). He discussed data obtained in: A) 5 patients with a plasma creatinine in the range 2.6-6.0 and studied for a total of 79 months; B) 10 patients with a plasma creatinine in the range 6.3-9.0 mg/dl followed-up for 117 months and C) 8 patients with a plasma creatinine >9.0 mg/dl followed-up for 40 months. Patients received a low protein diet of 3.8 g of N (week 1 and 5) and an amino acid diet (weeks 2-4) providing 2.0 g of N associated with diets of normal-high caloric content (2,300-3,000 kcal). Blood urea was reduced by the amino acid diet which normalized N balance after 1 week. At the meeting there were no other presentation on low protein alimentation in renal disease. It should be stressed that all studies in references 1-4 were supported by NIH, which continued to support Giordano's research until 1985.

In 1964 Giovannetti and Maggiore (18) reported in Lancet data on 9 patients with eGFR of 3-4 ml/min fed for 15-20 days a basal protein deficient diet (1.0-1.5 g of N), followed by a diet with L-essential amino acids (1.74 gN) and finally a restricted protein diet with egg proteins or egg albumen (2.2 g N/d) making a total experience of 48 months. Blood urea was normalized and N balance turned positive when the essential amino acids were administered. The positivity was kept by the egg-protein diet. In that year a monograph of Giordano (19) prescribed for CKD patients Lessential amino acids for 2-3 weeks (2 g of N), followed by 3.8 g of N as high biological value proteins. At the Italian Congress of Nephrology, which took place in Fiuggi in September 1964, Monasterio et al. (20) reported on 34 CKD patients, 32/34 hypertensive, followed for 1-8 months (for a total of 213 months). Plasma creatinine was in the range 4 to 6 mg/dl in 11 patients, 6 to 9 mg/dl in 11 patients, and > 9 mg/dl in 12 patients. They were given 20 days of a basal protein deficient diet (1.0-1.5 g of N) followed by a diet providing 2 g of N as egg proteins. Calories were provided as protein poor spaghetti, pizza and wafers. Patients remained on diet up to 18 months (1 patient). Giordano et al. at the same meeting provided data on 67 patients followed for a total of 469 months (21). Their plasma creatinine concentrations were either in the range 2.8-6,0 mg/dl (16 patients, Group A); or in the range 6.7-9.0 mg/dl (16 patients, Group B), or > than 9 mg/dl (35 patients, Group C). They received a pudding providing 2 g of N as essential amino acids for 15-20 days,

Protein intake	Patients no.	% with positive N balance
Free	4	0
Essential AA (8-11 g)	14	57.1
LPD, 17-g	18	16.6
LPD, 20-g	13	46.1
LPD, 23-g	10	60
LPD, 25-g	14	85.7%

Table 1. Nitrogen balance studies in 25 patientsundergoing various protein intakes for periods of 14 daysfor a total of 1012 days (25)

and low protein diets (24 g of proteins) subsequently. In Group A, followed for 135 months, there were 4 deaths, in Group B, followed for 160 months, there were 7 deaths, and in group C, followed for 174 months, there were 29 deaths.

From 1965 on Berlyne and his associates treated over 100 patients with chronic renal failure on the Manchester modification of the Giordano Giovannetti diet (22-24), a diet containing 18-g of proteins + 250 mg of L methionine, providing 2300 kcal, 1300 as liquid glucose, protein poor spaghetti and biscuits and 1000 as cream and oil. Thirty of the patients had a CaxP product of 96.4. The diet prolonged a comfortable existence.

At the third International Congress of Nephrology, in Washington 1996, Giordano and his associates reported on 221 patients followed up to 60 months (25). They started with 0.3g/Kg of HBV proteins associated with 35 kcal/kg and were followed-up by assessing the nitrogen balance. When the N balance was negative, 2-3 g of proteins were added in total 24 g for a 70 kg man. The study reported on more than 1000 days of N balance in 25 patients given various dietary intakes (free intake, 8-11-g L-essential amino acids, and low protein diets providing 17-g, 20-g, 23-g and 25g, as outlined in Table 1. Eighty-five per cent of the patients were in positive nitrogen balance with 25 g of proteins (Table 1). The study also disclosed a reduced phenylalanine to tyrosine ratio and a loss of 10-20 g of amino acids and peptides during a dialysis session of six hours.

Giovannetti on the same occasion reported data in more than 500 patients given initially a nitrogen poor diet (6 g of protein of vegetal origin and fruits) and subsequently 12 g of protein/d as egg protein (2g N). The longest observation lasted 3 years (26).

In 1968 Kopple *et al.* (27) provided a controlled comparison of 20-g and 40-g protein diets in the treatment of chronic uremia. The latter diet showed superiority in terms of nitrogen balance and patient's acceptance. It also provided similar symptomatic improvement to the 20-g diet. Kluthe and Quirin introduced the German modification of the Giordano-Giovannetti diet that was based on potatoes and eggs (28). It provided 20-25g of protein/d, 40% of which of vegetable origin and 60% of animal origin. Energy derived from butter, margarine, for a total of 2000-2400 kcal. The diet that supplied 10-30 mmol of sodium, in one study provided a positive nitrogen balance in 11 of 14 patients (29).

Finally in 1981, at the 8th international congress of Nephrology in Athens, Giordano discussed the

impossibility for nutrition to compete with the enthusiasm generated by dialysis and transplantation and made the point that appropriate alimentation had to be used very early in the course of chronic kidney disease. Therein he was finally able to compound discords emerging from available studies with the use of ketoacids and accepted them as a definite modality of nutrition in chronic kidney disease (30).

The experimental data of Brenner *et al.* disclosed the glomerular adaptation of the kidney to renal injury (31), which mediated by sustained elevation in glomerular capillary pressure and flows. Brenner *et al.*, speaking at conference organized to celebrate Morgagni 300 years after birth, pointed out (32) the relevance of the data of Maschio *et al.* and of Giordano al. who had showed that the rate of progression can be effectively retarded in a variety of renal disorders by prolonged control of dietary protein intake (33,34). In 1982 the group of Maschio *et al.* provided an extensive study, that although non randomized, generated important insights in the feasibility and success of long lasting dietary management (35) and nurtured additional interest for renal nutrition.

4. THE ADVENT OF KETOANALOGUES

The concept began with a paper on the effects on nitrogen balance of D-isomers of essential amino acids in uremia (36). It was hypothesized that it was the ketoacid of the D-isomers of aminoacids to be utilized. Two seminal papers were published in 1971 showing the feasibility of a low protein diet based on ketoanalogues (37,38). Ketoacids of the essential amino acids valine and phenylalanine could be utilized in studies with nitrogen balance and ¹⁵N incorporation. It was shown that phenylalanine and valine may be synthesized by healthy and uremic individuals (37,38). Walser et al. brought strong additional evidence (39). However since anoxic infants on ketoacid formulations failed achieve catch-up growth whereas they amino acid formulations did (40) a new reference pattern was proposed (41). For the subsequent 30 years Walser and his associates have continuously investigated on the problem and concluded that a very low protein diets supplemented with ketoacids was superior to an amino acid formulation(42-44). A conclusion which was a subject of controversy with the Neapolitan group.

5. THE EFFECTS OF LOW PROTEIN DIETS IN MULTICENTER RANDOMIZED CLINICAL STUDIES – LESSONS FROM META-ANALYSES

A total of 5 meta-analysis (45-49) have provided in the years 1992- 2007, based on a total of seventeen multicenter, randomized studies (50-66), in non-diabetic (50-55, 60, 61, 65, 66) and diabetic patients (56-59, 62-64).

The first meta-analysis was published by Fouque *et al.* (45) who analyzed 46 trials between 1976 and 1991. Only six of them were randomized and controlled. One study had been published only in abstract form. The study population included 440 patients on low protein diets and 450 controls. There were 61 renal deaths in the treated group and 95 in the control

group. The Relative Risk (RR) was 0.54 (0.37 to 0.79). The conclusion was that low protein diets clearly delay end stage renal disease. No firm conclusion was possible of the effects on progression, the nutritional risks, the benefits on osteodystrophy, anemia, and quality of life. The level of restriction and the needs for supplements were not assessed.

Four years later Pedrini et al. (46) published the second meta-analysis. A total of 1413 non-diabetic patients were followed-up for 18 to 36 months (50, 52, 55). The meta-analysis also included five studies on 108 diabetic patients followed-up 9 to 35 months (56-59). Dietary protein reduced significantly the risk for renal failure or death that was 0.67 (C.I. 0.50 to 0.89). It was concluded that a low protein diet had a beneficial effect independent of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors. Effects were also seen on protein excretion, serum creatinine, creatinine clearance, and glomerular filtration rate. Dietary protein restriction delayed progression in diabetic and nondiabetic renal disease independently of an effect on blood pressure. In nondiabetic patients it reduced the risk for renal failure or death. The data were considered robust and led to the suggestion of a low protein diet of 0.6 g/kg. There was indication for awareness of the harmful effects of dietary protein restriction. For diabetic patients the same amount of protein was advised for patients with progressive proteinuria despite good glycemic control.

Kasiske and his associates analyzed data encompassing experience on 23 studies 13 of which were randomized (47). Among those randomized and controlled, eight were related to studies in nondiabetic patients (50-55, 60, 61) and four to studies in diabetic patients (56, 58, 62-64). Nondiabetic patients ate diets providing 0.68 g/kg of protein, the control groups 1.01 g/kg, the control group for diabetic patients ate 1.26 g/kg of protein/d. The difference in protein intake between patients and controls averaged 0.33 g/kg in studies in nondiabetic patients and 0.54 g/kg in studies on diabetic patients. The data demonstrated that protein restriction reduces the rate of decline in renal function by 0.53 ml/min/year (95%) CI 0.08 to 0.98 ml/min/yr). By excluding a large study of Locatelli et al. (54) the decline increased to 0.66 ml/min. The results of the meta-analysis showed that a reduced protein intake retards the rate of decline in GFR. However the magnitude was too small. The study failed to understand the real value of the MDRD study. The contrast with previous meta-analyses is evident. However, Kasiske et al. appropriately suggested that a low protein diet might retard renal death even without a substantial improvement in GFR but through a delayed onset of uremic signs and symptoms. The meta-analysis supported the needs for studies with protein restriction in studies of longer duration (47).

The metanalysis of Fouque *et al.* (48), looking for renal death – a robust endpoint – was based on seven studies in nondiabetic adult patients (50-55, 65, 66). Although the difference in protein intake between control patients and patients on restricted diet was small (from less than 0.2 g/kg bw to 0.35 g/kg bw), a 39% reduction in renal death was disclosed in 753 patients on restricted protein intake compared to 741 controls. It was calculated that the number of patients to be treated (NNT) with the protein

restriction to spare 1 renal death is 16, a number to be matched with a NNT of 30 for statins and the NNT of 111 in the Scotland Coronary Prevention study. Interestingly the funnel plot which represents the individual odds ratio corresponding to the study patient number (67) showed that the odd ration of the larger studies (1, 5, 6) were closed to the to the common odd ratio of 0.61, whereas in smaller trials (2,3,16) the odd ratio was in the range 0.29 to 0.38, thus suggesting a stronger effect. However this was discussed in terms of publication bias due to self-censoring.

A recent meta-analysis of Fouque and Aparicio (49), using renal death as endpoint was based on 763 patients on low protein diets and 751 controls from 8 studies (50-55. 65.66) showed a reduction in renal death. The odd ratio was 0.69(95% C.I. 0.55-0.85) suggesting 31% reduction in renal death. Also in this meta-analysis the paper with a small number of patients showed more favorable effects. The authors suggested that in stage 3 and 4 of CKD the Western diet should be reduced to 0.6-0.8 g/kg bw/d, by strictly monitoring compliance and signs of malnutrition. The finding on amelioration of anemia deserves a special consideration. The trial of Di Iorio et al. (66) was performed in patients fed very low protein diets supplemented with ketoacid-aminoacid providing 0.5 g/kg of protein and an energy input of 35 cal/kg/d. The trial showed a 35% reduction of the erythropoietin dose required to maintain the hemoglobin levels, which was mediated by a correction of a moderate secondary hyperparathyroidism focusing on PTH and phosphate concentrations (66).

6. DATA FROM SELECTED STUDIES

Rosman *et al.* (50) were the first to perform a controlled prospective randomized study in 228 patients with a creatinine clearance of 10-60 ml/min. They showed that a moderate protein intake (0.4-0.6 g/Kg body weight) the rate of progression of chronic renal insufficiency was reduced in comparison to a usual diet. They used isocaloric diets made of rice, potatoes, protein-free bread, and eggs and did not observe weight loss and significant reduction in serum albumin concentrations. The study thus confirmed retrospective and nonrandomized trials.

Jungers *et al.* (51) performed a randomized controlled study on 31 patients by using a low protein diet and a very low protein diet supplemented with ketoacids in patients with a serum creatinine of 500 to 900 mmol/L and showed that the supplemented diet prolonged the time of renal death by 29%.

Locatelli *et al.* (54) randomized 156 patients either to a low protein diet (0.6g/Kg) diet or to a moderate protein diet (1.0 g/Kg). Renal survival time was more favorable in the low diet, however the loss of renal function was not different in the two studies. The study lacked a significant statistical power and was further weakened by the fact that the moderate protein diet provided 0.9 g/kg per day of protein) whereas the low protein diet provided 0.78 g/kg of proteins. So the real difference was 0.122 g/kg, too small to achieve an effect. In addition the compliance was very poor, but body weight did not change.

For the Modification of Diet in Renal Disease Study, (MDRD Study) financed by the National Institutes of Health of the United States, Klahr et al. (55) organized a multi-center, randomized prospective trial to evaluate the effects of two levels of protein intake and two levels of blood pressure (usual blood pressure defined by a mean blood pressure of 103 mmHg and low blood pressure with a mean arterial pressure of 92 mm Hg). In Study A they enrolled 585 patients with a GFR of 25 to 55 ml/min per 1.73 m^2 of body surface area randomly assigned either to a usual protein diet (1.3 g/kg) or a low protein diet (0.58 g/kg). Mean caloric intake was of about 28 kcal/Kg. Klahr et al. (55) also enrolled (Study B) 255 patients with GFR in the range 13 to 24 ml/min per 1.73 m² either on LPD (0.58 g/kg) or Very Low LPD (0.285g/kg) supplemented with ketoacids and aminoacids providing a protein intake similar to the LPD. Caloric intake was around 25 kcal/kg.

In study A in the first 4 months patients on low protein diet and low blood pressure had a significant higher loss of GFR. Subsequently the rate of decline was 28% less in the LPD and 9% in Low Blood Pressure group. The less steep slopes after 4 months were seen consistent with a small beneficial effect of this intervention on progression of renal disease. Black patients benefitted of low blood pressure as it was the case for patients with proteinuria. Patients with polycystic kidney had the most rapid decline in GFR. The lowering GFR effect in the first four months was interpreted as a hemodynamic response to lower protein intake. In Study B a marginal effect of very low protein diet was seen on GFR. This in contrast with many previous studies.

The conclusion of the study, which did not match the expectations of the promoters, was rather pessimistic and suggested that i) in patients with moderate renal insufficiency dietary intervention was of small benefit; ii) in patients with more severe renal insufficiency the very low protein diet did not significantly slow the progression of renal disease; iii) in patients with proteinuria and low blood pressure the decline of GFR was smaller; iv) the interventional study appeared inappropriately short. The authors, as well the whole community of nephrologists worldwide interpreted the data as results of inadequacy of low protein nutrition to slow the CKD course.

It took some years to understand all the results of the MDRD study (68). In secondary studies it was demonstrated that a reduction in protein intake of 0.2 g/kg was a associated with a 1.15 ml/min per/yr slower GFR decline that was 29% of mean GFR decline. The relative risk of renal failure or death was minimized and in the range 0.34 to 0.76 (mean 0.51). Also for the study in more severe renal insufficiency, a very low protein diet supplemented with a mixture of ketoacids and aminoacids, was demonstrated beneficial. The inadequacy of composition of the supplements and study design were acknowledged. In particular it was possible to understand that the reduction of GFR loss from the fifth months on was 1.1 ml/min per year lower than the mean (28% less), not different from the hypothesized benefit (30% reduction). The secondary analysis also disclosed a trend toward lower

incidence of ESRD or death in the low protein diet group, as well as the reduction of protein excretion similar to that caused by low blood pressure. In fact the comparison of randomized studies showed that dietary protein restriction slowed the rise of protein excretion during follow-up. Similar effects were observed in comparison of the BP group. The study disclosed additive benefits of blood pressure control and low protein intake and also gave evidence of the safety of low protein intake although accurate supervision was needed. The study finally provided justification for prescribing a low protein diet providing 0.6 g/kg of protein/d and suggested dietitian-nephrologist interaction to prevent malnutrition (68).

Finally, it was more evident that a longer period of treatment was necessary. There were many pitfalls in that study. At the time of enrollment a prerequisite concerning progression was not fixed and 15% of the patients in the control group did not progress. In addition there was an excess of patients with polycystic kidney disease for whom the study "provides little evidence of a beneficial effect in moderate renal disease". Furthermore the mean duration of the trial was 2.2 years although in many trials longer times were required to achieve a benefit. This was the case of fish oils in IgA nephropathy and of strict glycemic control in diabetes mellitus (69,70). Furthermore there was an unregulated use of ACEi. Finally it should be noticed that mean caloric intake was slightly below the recommended energy (35 kcal/kg/d or more).

A low protein diet reduces proteinuria as it was shown by Kaysen *et al.* (71) in 1986. An effect that has been confirmed in many trials and carries the possibility to reduce the risk of sclerosis.

Aparicio *et al.* (72) treated more than two hundred well motivated patients - mean GFR of 13 ml/min - with supplemented amino acid and ketoacid diets providing a protein intake 0.43 g/kg bw/d) for an average time of 29.8 months, without changes in body weight, BMI, serum albumin, and serum PTH. A significant improvement of plasma bicarbonate was observed over time. They were started on renal replacement therapy at GFR of 5.6 ± 1.9 ml/min. The effect on acidosis was particularly important. Mortality rate after starting RRT was 2.4% in the first year and 6.8% in the second year. At five years the mortality was 25% and at 10 years of 50%.

Results of a 48 months randomized controlled trial of a low protein diet and of a moderate protein intake (respectively providing 0.73 and 0.90 g/kg/d of protein) in CKD patients with a GFR<30 ml/min were recently published by Cianciaruso *et al.* (73). The trial, had a follow-up of 30 months, was performed in order to assess the risk of malnutrition, the compliance to the dietary regimen, and patient outcomes. It randomized 423 patients, of whom 276 completed the trial. A low protein diet did not cause malnutrition, most patients were compliant with the diet, which did not impact patient outcomes. Body weight and creatinine excretion, strong clinical markers of

malnutrition, remained constant. Furthermore albumin and transferrin, sensitive markers of visceral protein, remained also stable under both diets. Only 3 out 423 patients (0.7%) met predefined criteria of malnutrition. The risk of reaching dialysis and the risk of mortality were low and were not affected by the diets under study. There was a low loss (3.4%) to follow-up. The mortality rate was 3.8%. Low protein diet did not affect survival on dialysis. It should be noticed however that patients did not adhere strictly to prescribed protein. To a prescription of 0.55 g/kg/d corresponded a real intake of 0.73 g/Kg and to a prescribed intake of 0.80 g/kg/d corresponded a true intake of 0.9 g/kg, however a difference of 0.17g/kg d between the two diets was always present. The study is relevant for the continuous strict monitoring of dietary management over a long-period, a monitoring which is missed by recent papers of the MDRD study which were followed-up only for nine months after completion of the study.

Does not impair survival in subsequent dialytic treatment

7. THE BENEFITS OF LOW PROTEIN DIETS IN CKD

Table 2 is a synopsis of various benefits of dietary protein restriction in CKD patients receiving adequate energy inputs. There is evidence that a low protein restriction can slow the rate of progression of renal disease and the time until end-stage renal failure. A low protein intake ameliorates uremic symptoms and prevents osteodystrophy, hypertension, and metabolic acidosis because of the lower intake of phosphate, sodium, potassium and acid. Although still debated, evidence has been accumulated indicating that low-protein alimentation can also slow progression of renal disease. It was possible to hypothesize a) either the reduction of proteinuria which occurs independently of reduction achieved through ACE inhibitors, b) or an improved control of blood pressure, and c) a possible reduction of a nephrotoxin originating from protein metabolism (74).

Proteinuria, which causes progression of renal disease, is reduced within 1 week by a low protein diet (71) and is observed. The reduction was in the range 24-37%, whereas in 202 patients Walser reported a 27% reduction (75). A linear correlation between decrease in protein and reduction of proteinuria has also been described. In study A of Klahr et al. (55) there was an association between reduction in urine protein and subsequent GFR decline. Dietary proteins reduced the rate of rise of urine protein excretion during follow-up. An initial reduction in proteinuria of 1 g/day caused a lower decline in GFR of nearly 1 ml/year. Also in the study of Aparicio (72) low protein intake was reduced with a nearly 50% reduction of proteinuria. Suppression of proteinuria was also achieved in patients under angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (76).

Low protein diets do not cause malnutrition. It is known from 1966 (Table 1) that a low protein diet providing 25 g/kg/d resulted in a positive nitrogen balance in 85% of the patients who adhered to the prescription (25). In addition in 1973 Coburn and Kopple have demonstrated that a protein intake of 0.6 g/kg/d results in a neutral nitrogen balance (77).

We now know that body weight, creatinine production, albumin, transferrin are constant in patients given low protein diets. This is also true in patients treated with low protein diet supplemented with ketoacids (74).

Should protein intake be restricted in predialysis patients? (78). The authors stressed that he experience tells that protein restriction ameliorates uremic signs and symptoms including peripheral neuropathy (79). It also improves insulin resistance (80), red cell lipid peroxidation (81), osteodystrophy because of reduced phosphorus intake (82). The low protein diet reduced blood urea and well as blood concentration of other waste products.

Dialysis can be postponed of nearly 1 years when GFR is of 10 ml/min in non-diabetic and 15 ml/min in diabetic patients. The low protein diet is not associated with

higher rates of death, hospitalization or sign of malnutrition since they provide appropriate intakes of energy and protein and other nutrients. In addition a low protein diet reduces proteinuria and ameliorates acidosis. The cost for low protein diet is modest (78).

The benefits of dietary protein restriction in CKD include the reduction of the breakdown of protein and aminoacids, and also of albuminuria, gravity of hyperphosphatemia, acidosis and azotemia and may even cause an increase in serum albumin (83). Furthermore it reinstates renal reserve in CKD (84). In addition since homocysteine concentration in serum correlates with protein content, a low protein diet probably reduces homocysteine levels.

The amelioration of acidosis deserves some specific comments. Metabolic acidosis, which has been considered as a uremic toxin (85), causes defect in growth hormone, IGF-1, insulin, glucocorticoids, thyroid hormone, parathyroid hormone and vitamin D, which in adults are associated with loss of bone mass in adults. In CKD many abnormalities in bone and muscle metabolism can be linked to acidosis and may be corrected with sodium bicarbonate administration. Acidosis impacts on albumin synthesis, nitrogen balance, the ability to adapt to a low protein intake, increases amino acid and protein degradation, and much more on insulin resistance, which stimulates muscle degradation by proteolytic mechanisms (86,87). In particular we do know that acidosis decreases GH secretion, IGF-1 response, suppresses insulin mediate glucose metabolism, decreases T_3 and T_4 and increases TSH as well as the production of glucocorticoids, decreases sensitivity of PTH secretion to changes in plasma calcium, suppresses activation to 1,25(OH)₂ cholecalciferol (86). In CKD Papadoyannakis et al. have improved nitrogen balance with bicarbonate administration (88), Garibotto et al. showed that proteolysis was proportional to acidosis and blood cortisol (89). Williams et al. (90) improved urea production and nitrogen balance by bicarbonate administration. In addition in patients with metabolic acidosis a reduction in albumin synthesis occurs (91). Thus two serious adverse effects of CKD, namely bone disease and loss of protein stores can be prevented and cured by achieving optimal bicarbonate concentrations (91). In a recent study of Cianciaruso et al. (92) in patients of a tertiary care unit at a eGFR of 9.8±1.3 ml/min had a serum bicarbonate of 24.1±3.3 mol/L. At the end of the study when their GFR >6.0 ml/min serum bicarbonate averaged23.3±3.8 mEq/L. The same investigators in compliant patients CKD grade 4-5, observed that serum bicarbonate did not fall below 23.1±3.4 with a protein intake of 0.72 and below 22.1±4.0 mEq/L with a protein intake of 0.92 g/Kg (93).

8. DEFERRING RENAL REPLACEMENT THERAPY

In USA, Medicare criteria allow dialysis treatment when GFR is < of 10 ml/min in nondiabetic patients when GFR is < of 15 ml/min in diabetic patients. Having this in mind a study was therefore performed to explore the possibility of deferring initiation of dialysis

with a supplemented very low protein diet providing 0.3 g/kg. Ideal Body weight. A total of 23 patients (GFR of 7.4 \pm 1.9 ml/min had renal survival to dialysis was 353 days (12 patients had survival times > 2 years), when their GFR averaged 4.5 \pm 1.8 ml/min. Acidosis and hypercholesterolemia were both predictive of shorter renal survival time, BUN and GFR were not. Signs of malnutrition did not develop. Rate of progression averaged 1.07 \pm 0.32 ml/min per yr (94).

Recently Cianciaruso et al. (93) studied prospectively a group of patients with eGFR <11 ml/min/1.73 m² receiving 0.6 g/kg of protein having fixed a minimum eGFR of 6.1 ml/min for receiving dialytic therapy. Median time to dialysis start was 11.8 months. A total of eight patients ended the study without starting dialysis after 21.8 months. There was an excellent control of systolic and diastolic blood pressure, absence of signs of malnutrition, left ventricular hypertrophy did not progress, a normal left ventricular mass was seen, 80% of them had hemoglobin level > 11g/dl. The study shows the possibility to safely postpone initiation of dialysis without affecting quality of life and with a lower economic impact (93). These findings are in agreement with recent findings in CKD patients with a GFR < 15 ml/min. Some 37% of them after 2 years of follow-up did not reach the outcomes of dialysis or death.

A diet providing 0.55 g/kg bw (Diet A) was evaluated for 18 months for several markers of uremic toxicity against a diet providing 0.8 g/kg bw protein (Diet B) in a randomized controlled trial in patients with CKD4-5, having eGFR of 18 \pm 7 ml/min/1.73 m² (92.) Both diets provided a minimum energy intake not below 30 cal/kg bw/d. Diet A diet provided 0.72 g/kg of protein whereas Diet B provided a protein intake of 0.92 g/kg, the difference was of 0.2 g/Kg bw/d. Both diets did not cause malnutrition and kept PTH serum levels constant. No difference was seen for blood pressure under both regimens. Diet A was associated with a better control of blood urea, a lower urinary sodium excretion (30 mmol/day), and a reduced need for of phosphate binders. bicarbonate supplements, allopurinol and diuretics. Furthermore Diet A kept plasma stable, thus pointing to a better metabolic control in comparison with Diet B. Some 27% of the patients were compliant with Diet A, 53% with diet B.

In a prospective randomized multi center study excluding diabetic patients (95) a supplemented very low protein diet was compared to maintenance hemodialysis, in patients with a GFR of 6.1 ± 1.1 ml/min. In patients receiving the diet proved metabolically safe as indicated by stability of albumins, hemoglobin and bicarbonate. Patients entered in dialysis with a mean GFR of 4.3 ± 1.1 ml/min. The control group was started on dialysis. One year later 50% of the patients on hemodialysis and 58% of patients on diet died (p not significant). Such approach turned very beneficial in economical terms (96).

9. CONCLUSION

Fifth years after the introduction of dietary management of renal failure (15-17) hundreds of studies, including 17 prospective randomized trials (50-66),

discussed in 5 meta-analyses (45-49) have shown the feasibility, the safety and the efficacy of low protein diets made of natural foods and very low protein diets made of amino acids and/or ketoacids. The diet does not impair survival on subsequent dialytic treatment and grants the maintenance of nitrogen balance by impacting not only on symptomatology and biochemistries at a low cost. The controversy on the usefulness of low protein diet and of the amino acids and of their nitrogen free analogues in chronic renal failure is settled (97,98) and patients may be kept in safe conditions even months after Medicare allows the starting of dialysis.

10. REFERENCES

1. LS Beale: Kidney Diseases, Urinary Deposits and Calcolous Disorders; Their nature and treatment. *Philadelphia, Lindsay and Blacktone*, p.85 (1869)

2. NG De Santo, C Bisaccia, RM De Santo, AF Perna, M Manzo, E Di Stazio, M Cirillo: Mariano Semmola (1831-1895): the effect of low protein diet in primary albuminuria. *J Nephrol* May-Jun,19 Suppl 10,S48-57 (2006)

3. .F Volhard: Die Doppelseitigen Hämatogenen Nierenerkranungen (Brightische Krankheit). In: Handbuck der inneren Harnwege. Berlin, Springer, 1149-1722 (1918)

4. W Kempne: Treatment of hypertensive vascular disease with rice diet. Am J Med 4, 545-577(1948)

5. JG Borst: Protein catabolism in uremia: effects of protein-free diet, infections and blood transfusions. Lancet May 29,1(6509), 824-828 (1948)

6. GM Bull, AM Jockes, KG Lowe: Conservative treatment of anuric uremia. Lancet Aug 6, 2(6571), 229-234 (1949)

7. T Addis: Glomerular nephritis Diagnosis and Treatment. In: New York, MacMillan (1948)

8. HW Smith: The Kidney. Structure and Function in Health and Disease. In: Oxford University Press, New York (1951)

9. JP Peters, and DD van Slyke: Quantitative clinical chemistry. In: Interpretations, Baltimore, Willams and Wilkins, Vol. 1 (1946)

10. TN Pullman, AS Alving, M Landowne: Effect of protein in the diet upon certain aspects of renal function. Fed Proc 8, 129 (abstract) (1949)

11. TN Pullman, AS Alving, RJ Dern, M Landowne: The influence of dietary protein intake on specific renal functions in normal man. J Lab Clin Med 44, 322-332 (1954)

12. TN Pullman: Renal reserve: early work and personal reminiscences from the 1940s. *Semin Nephrol* 15, 375-380 (1995)

13. JP Merrill: The Treatment of Renal Failure. Therapeutic Principles in the Management of Acute and Chronic Uremia. New York, Grune and Stratton, 1955, pp.134-153.

14. C Giordano: L'utilizzazione dell'urea e dell'ammonio per il mantenimento del bilancio azotato nell'uomo. *Boll Soc Ital Biol Sper* 38, 1198-1199 (1961)

15. C Giordano: Metabolismo nell'uremia cronica .(III) L'utilizzazione dell'urea endogena in pazienti affetti da grave insufficienza renale. *Boll Soc Ital Biol Sper* 37,1296-1297 (1961)

16. C Giordano: Use of exogenous and endogenous urea for protein synthesis in normal and uremic subjects. *J Lab Clin Med* 6, 231-246 (1963)

17. C Giordano: Treatment of uremia using essential amino acid and low protein diets. Proc. 2nd Int Congr Nephrol. Prague, Excerpta Medica International Congress Series no.78, Basel, Karger 752-755 (1964)

18. S Giovannetti, Q Maggiore: A low-nitrogen diet with proteins of high biological value for severe chronic uraemia. *Lancet* 1, 1000-1005 (1964)

19. C Giordano: La nutrizione nelle malattie renali. Minerva Medica, Torino (1964)

20. G Monasterio, S Giovannetti, Maggiore: Il trattamento dietetico dell'uremia. Minerva Nefrologica 2, 132-152 (1965)

21. C Giordano, R Esposito, C De Pascale, NG De Santo: Gli aminoacidi e le proteine nel trattamento dietetico e nel metabolismo dell'uremia cronica. Minerva Nefrologica 1965;2: 153-162.

22. AB Shaw, FJ Bazzard, EM Booth, S Nilwarangkur, and GM Berlyne: The treatment of chronic renal failure by a modified Giordano Giovannetti diet. *Quart J Med* 34, 237-240 (1965)

23. GM Berlyne, AB Shaw, S Nilwarangkur: Dietary treatment of chronic renal failure. Experiences with a modified Giordano-Giovannetti diet. *Nephron* 2, 129-134 (1966)

24. GM Berlyne, D Gaan, WR Ginks: Dietary treatment of chronic renal failure. *Am J Clin Nutr* 21, 547-553 (1968)

25. C Giordano, R Esposito, C De Pascale, NG De Santo: Dietary treatment in renal failure. Proc. 3rd Int Congr Nephrol, Washington, Karger, Basel, Vol.3, 214-229 (1966)

26. S Giovannetti: Diet in chronic uremia. Proc. 3rd int Congr Nephrol, Karger, Basel, Vol.3, 230-236 (1966)

27. JD Kopple, MK Sorensen, JW Coburn, S Gordon, and ME Rubini: Controlled comparison of 20-g and 40-g

protein diets in the treatment of chronic uremia. *Am J Clin Nutr* 21, 553-564 (1968)

28. R Kluthe, H Quirin, D Oechsòen: Kartoffel-Ei-Diät bei fortgesdchrittener Niereninsuffizienz. *Med Klin* 62, 1020-1024 (1967)

29. R Kluthe, D Oechslen, H Quirin, and HJ Jesdinsky: Six years experience with a special low protein diet. In: Uremia. An international Conference on Pathogenesis Diagnosis and Therapy, Kluthe R, Berlyne G and Burton B, Eds. George Thieme, Stuttgart, 250-256 (1972)

30. C Giordano: Early diet to slow the course of chronic renal failure. Proc 8th Congr Nephrol, Athens. Karger, Basel, 71-82 (1981)

31. BM Brenner, TW Meyer, TH Hostetter: Dietary protein intake and the progressive nature of kidney disease: The role hemodinamically mediated injury in the pathogenesis of progressive glomerular sclerosis in ageing, renal ablation and intrinsic renal disease. *N Engl J Med* 307, 652-660 (1982)

32. BM Brenner: The glomerular adaptation to renal injury: A unifying hypothesis. In: Bertani T and Remuzzi G. Glomerular injury 300 years after Morgagni. Eds: Wichtig, Milan, 3-10 (1983)

33. G Maschio, N Tessitore, B Lund: Long-term effects of dietary phosphate restriction in chronic renal failure. In: Uremia: Pathobiology of patients treated 10 years or more, Giordano C and Friedman EA, Eds: Wichtig, Milan, 16-22 (1981)

34. C Giordano: Prolongation of survival for a decade or more by low protein diet. In: Uremia: Pathobiology of patients treated for 10 years or more, Giordano C and Friedman EA, Eds: Wichtig, Milan, 4-12 (1981)

35. L Oldrizzi, C Rugiu, E Valvo, G Maschio: Effects of dietary protein and phosphorus restriction on the progression of early renal failure. *Kidney Int* 22, 371-376 (1982)

36. C Giordano, C De Pascale, R Esposito, NG De Santo: L'utilizzazione degli aminoacidi L e DL. *Boll Soc Ital Biol Sper* 40, 1234-36 (1964)

37. P Richards, CL Brown, BJ Oughton, B Thompson: Synthesis of phenylalanine and valine by healthy and uremic men. *Lancet*; ii, 128-135 (1971)

38. C Giordano, ME Phillips, C De Pascale, NG De Santo, P Fürst, CL Brown, BJ Houghton, P Richards: Utilisation of ketoacid analogues of valine and phenylalanine in health and uremia. *Lancet* Jan 22, 1(7743), 178-82 (1972)

39. M Walser, A Will Coulter, S Dighe, and FR Kratz: The effects of ketoanalogues of essential amino acids in severe chronic renal failure. *J Clin Invest* 52, 678-685 (1973)

40. C Giordano, NG De Santo, R Di Toro, M Pluvio, L Perrone :Amino acid and ketoacid diet in uremic children and infants. *Kidney Int* 13, S83-S85 (1978)

41. C Giordano, NG De Santo, M Pluvio: Nitrogen Balance in uremic patients on different aminoacid and ketoacid formulation – a proposed reference pattern. *Am J Clin Nutr* 31, 1797-1801 (1978)

42. M Walser, S Hill, EA Tomalis: Treatment of nephritic adults with a supplemented very low protein diet. *Am J kidney Dis* 9, 238-247 (1988)

43. M Walser, S Hill, L Ward: Progression of chronic renal failure on substituting a ketoacid supplement for an amino acid supplement. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2, 1178-1185(1992)

44. J Coresh, M Walser, S Hill: Survival of on dialysis among renal failure patients treated with a supplemented low protein diet before dialysis. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 6, 1379-1385 (1995)

45. D Fouque, M Laville, JB Boissel, R Chifflet, M Labeeuw, PY Zech: Controlled low protein diets in chronic renal insufficiency: meta-analysis. *BMJ* 304, 216-220 (1992)

46. MT Pedrini, AS Levey, JJ Lau, TC Chalmers, PH Wang: The effect of dietary protein restriction on the progression of diabetic and non diabetic renal diseases: a meta-analysis. *Ann Intern Med* 124, 627-632 (1996)

47. BL Kasiske, JDA Lakatua, JZ Ma, TA Louis: A metaanalysis of the effects of dietary protein restriction on the rate of decline in renal function. *Am J Kidney Dis* 31, 954-961(1998)

48. D Fouque, P Wang, M Laville, JP Boissel: Low protein diets delay end-stage renal disease in non-diabetic adults with chronic renal failure. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 15, 1986-1992 (2000)

49. D Fouque and M Aparicio: Eleven reasons to control protein intake of patients with chronic kidney disease. *Nature Clinical Practice Nephrology* 3, 383-392 (2007)

50. JB Rosman, K Laner, M Brandl, TP Piers-Becht, GK van der Hem, PM ter Wee, AJ Donker: Protein restricted diets in chronic renal fialure: a 4-year follow-up shows limited indications. *Kidney Int* 27 (Suppl), S96-S102 (1989)

51. P Jungers, P Chaveau, F Ployard, B Lebkiri, C Ciancioni, NK Man: Comparison of ketoacids and low protein diet on advanced chronic renal failure progression. *Kidney Int* 22 (Suppl), S96-S102 (1987)

52. BU Ihle, GH Becker, JA Withworth, RA Charlwood, PS Kincaid-Smith: The effect of protein restriction on the progression of renal insufficiency. *N Engl J Med* 321, 1773-1777 (1989)

53. PS Williams, ME Stevens, G Fass: Failure of protein restriction and phosphate restriction to retard the rate of progression of chronic renal failure: a prospective randomized, controlled trial. *Q J Med* 81, 837-855 (1991)

54. F Locatelli, D Alberti, G Graziani: Prospective, randomized multicentre trial of effect of protein restriction on the progression of chronic renal insufficiency. *Lancet* 337, 1299-1304 (1991)

55. S Klahr, AS Levey, GJ Beck, AW Caggiula, L Hunsicker, JW Kusek, G Striker: The effects of dietary protein restriction and blood-pressure control on the progression of chronic renal disease. Modification of Diet in renal Disease Study Group. *N Engl J Med* 330, 877-894 (1994)

56. JD Walker, RA Dodds, TJ Murrels: Restriction of dietary protein and progression of renal failure in diabetic nephropathy. *Lancet* 2, 1411-1414 (1989)

57. IG Brodsky, DC Robbins, E Hiser: Effects of lowprotein diets on protein metabolism in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus patients with early nephropathy. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 75, 351-357 (1992)

58. K Zeller, E Whittaker, L Sullivan, P Raskin, HR Jacobson: Effect of restricting dietary protein on the progression of renal failure in patients with insulindependent diabetes mellitus. *N Engl J Med* 324, 78-84 (1991)

59. A Ciavarella, G Di Mizio, S Stefoni: Reduced albuminuria after dietary protein restriction in insulin dependent diabetic patients with clinical nephropathy. *Diabetes Care* 10, 407-413 (1987)

60. J Bergström, A Alvestrand, H Bucht, A Gutierrez: Stockholm clinical study on progression of chronic renal failure – An interim report. *Kidney Int* (Suppl) 36, S110-S114 (1989)

61. G D'Amico, MG Gentile, G Fellini, G Manna. F Cofano: Effect of dietary protein restriction on the progression of renal failure: A prospective randomized trial. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 9, 1590-1594 (1994)

62. BH Brohuard, L LaGrone: Effect of dietary protein restriction on functional renal reserve in diabetic nephropathy. *Am J med* 89, 427-431 (1990)

63. RPF Dullart, BJ Beusekamp, S Meijer, J van Doormal, WJ Sluiter: Long-term effects of protein-restricted diet on albuminuria and renal function in IDDM patients without clinical nephropathy and hypertension. *Diabetes Care* 16, 483-492 (1993)

64. FJ Raal, WJ Kalk, M Lawson, JD Esser, R Buys, L Fourie, VR Panz: Effect of moderate protein restriction on the progression of overt diabetic nephropathy. A 6-mo prospective study. *Am J Clin Nutr* 60, 579-585 (1994)

65. Malvy D: Effects of severe protein restriction with ketoanalogues in advanced renal failure. *J Am Coll Nutr* 18, 481-486 (1999)

66. BR Di Iorio: Supplemented very low protein diet ameliorates responsiveness to erythropoietin in chronic renal failure. *Kidney Int* 64, 1822-1828 (2003)

67. M Egger, G Davey Smith, M Schneider, C Minder: Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple graphical test. *Br Med J* 315, 629-634 (1997)

68. AS Levey, T Greene, GJ Beck, AW Caggiula, JW Kusek, LG Hunsicker, S Klahr: Dietary protein restriction and the progression of chronic renal disease: What have all of the results of the MDRD study shown?. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (1999)

69. JV Donadio, EJ Bergstralh, KP Offord, DC Spencer, KE Holley: A controlled trial of fish oil in IgA nephropathy. *N Engl J Med* 331, 1194-1199 (1994)

70. The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group. *N Engl J Med* 329, 977-986 (1993)

71. GA Kaysen: Effect of dietary protein intake on albumin homeostasis in nephritic patients. *Kidney Int* 29, 572-577 (1986)

72. M Aparicio, PH Chaveau, V De Precigout, B-L ouchet J, C Lasseur, C Combe: Nutrition and outcome of renal replacement therapy of patients with chronic renal failure treated by a supplemented very low protein diet. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 11, 708-716 (2000)

73. B Cianciaruso, A Pota, V Bellizzi, D Di Giuseppe, Di L Micco, R Minutolo, A Pisani, M Sabbatini, P Ravani: Effect of low-versus moderate-protein restriction on progression of CKD: Follow-up of a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Kidney Dis* 54, 1052-1061 (2009)

74. BJ Maroni and WE Mitch: Role of nutrition in prevention of the progression of renal disease. *Ann Rev Nutr* 17, 435-455 (1997)

75. M Walser: Treatment of nephritic adults with a supplemented very low-protein diet. *Am J Kidney Dis* 28, 354-364 (1996)

76. WE Mitch: Beneficial responses to modified diets in treating patients with chronic kidney disease. *Kidney int* 94 (Suppl), S133-S135 (2005)

77. JD Kopple, JW Coburn: Metabolic studies of low protein diets in uremia. I. Nitrogen and potassium. *Medicine* 52, 583-594 (1973)

78. M Walser, B Mitch, BJ Maroni, and JD Kopple: Should protein intake be restricted in predialysis patients?. *Kidney Int* 55, 771-777 (1999)

79. G Barsotti: Effects of dietary therapy on uremic symptoms and complications. In: Nutritional therapy of chronic renal failure, S Giovannetti, Eds: Boston, Kluwer Academic 231-234 (1989)

80. H Gin, G Combe, V Rigalleau, C Delafaye, M Aparicio, J Aubertin: Effects of a low protein, low phosphorus diet on metabolic insulin clearance in patients with chronic renal failure. *Am J Clin Nutr* 59, 663-666 (1994)

81. E Peuchant, MC Delams-Beauvieux, L Dubourg, MJ Thomas, A Perromat, M Aparici, M Clerc, C Combe: Antioxidant effects of a supplemented very low protein diet in chronic renal failure. *Free Radic Biol Med* 22, 313-320 (1997)

82. PT Frohling, F Kokot, R Schmikler, I Kashunbe, K Lindenau: Influence of ketoacids in the prophylaxis and treatment of renal osteopathy. *Clin Nephrol* 20, 212-215 (1983)

83. S Mandayam, WE Mitch: Dietary protein restriction benefits patients with chronic kidney disease. *Nephrology* 11, 53-57 (2006)

84. NG De Santo, M Cirillo, P Anastasio, L Spitali, G Capasso: Renal response to an acute oral protein load in healthy humans and in patients with renale disease or liver cirrhosis. *Semin Nephrol* 15, 443-448 (1995)

85. J Bergstrom: Why are patients malnourished?. Am J Kidney Dis 26, 229-241 (1995)

86. WE Mitch: Consequences and clinical consequences of metabolic acidosis. *J Nephrol* 19 (Suppl 9), S70-S75 (2008)

87. WE Mitch, AL Goldberg: Mechanisms of muscle wasting: the role of the ubiquitin-proteasome system. *N Engl J Med* 335, 1897-1905 (1996)

88. NJ Papadoyannakis, CJ Stefanides, M McGeown: The effect of the correction of metabolic acidosis on nitrogen and protein balance of patients with chronic renal failure. *Am J Clin Nutr* 40, 623-627 (1984)

89. G Garibotto, R Russo, A Sofia, MR Sala, C Robaudo, P Moscatelli, G De Ferrari, A Tizianello: Skeletal muscle protein synthesis and degradation in patients with chronic renal failure. *Kidney Int* 45, 1423-1429 (1994)

90. B Williams, J Hattersley, E Layward, J Walls: Metabolic acidosis and skeletal muscle adaptation to low protein diets in chronic uremia. *Kidney Int* 40, 779-786 (1991)

91. E Movilli, R Zani, O Crali, L Sangalli, A Pola, C Camerini, GC Cancarini, F Scolari, P Feller, R Maiorca: Correction of metabolic acidosis increases serum albumin concentration and decreases kinetically evaluated protein intake in hemodialysis patients. A prospective study. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 13, 1719-1722 (1998)

92. B Cianciaruso, A Pota, A Pisani, T S orraca, R Annecchini, P Lombardi, A Capuano, P Nazzaro, V Bellizzi, M Sabbatini: Metabolic effects of two low protein diets in chronic kidney disease staghe 4-5 – a randomized controller trial. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 23, 636-644 (2008)

93. L Di Micco, S Torraca, A Pota, D Di Giuseppe, A Pisani, L Spinelli, S De Portu, Sa M bbatini, M Mantovani, L Mantovani, B Cianciaruso: Setting dialisi start at 6.0 ml/min/1.73 m2 eGFR – a study on safety, quality of life and economic impact. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 24, 3434-3440 (2009)

94. M Walser, S Hill: Can renal replacement be deferred by a supplemented very low protein diet?. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 10, 111-116 (1999)

95. HG Brunori, BF Viola, G Parriniello, V De Biase, G Como, V Franco, G Garibotto, R Zubani, GC Cancarini: Efficacy and safety of a very low-protein diet when postponing dialysis in the elderly: A prospective randomized multicenter controlled study. *Am J Kidney Dis* 49, 569-580 (2007)

96. L Scalone, F Borghetti, G Brunori, BFViola, B Brancati, L. Sottini, LG Manatovani, G Cancarini: Costbenefit analysis of supplemented very low-protein diet versus dialysis in elderly CKD5 patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 25, 907-913 (2010)

97. C Giordano: Are low protein diets usefull. A critical approach. In: Schreiner Ge, Wichester JFW Mattern and BE Mendelson: Eds: Controversies in Nephrology, vol 2. Washington, 390-403. (1979)

98. M Walser, WE Mitch, VU Collier: Essential amino acids and their nitrogen-free analogues in the treatment of chronic renal failure. In: Ge Schreiner, JF Wichester, W Mattern and BE Mendelson, Eds: Controversies in Nephrology, vol 2. Washington, 404-413 (1979)

Key Words: Low protein diets, Very Low Protein Diets, Essential Amino Acids, Ketoacids, High Biological Value Proteins, Caloric Intake, CKD, Review

Send correspondence to: Natale Gaspare De Santo, Second University of Naples, 5 Via Pansini, Pad.17, Nephrology, 80131 Naples, Italy, Tel: 39 3484117376, Fax: 39 0815666655, E-mail: nataleg.desanto@unina2.it

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol3S.htm